

SOUTHEAST PROJECT

PERMITTING, DISPOSAL AND BILLING PROCEDURES

Effective July 1, 2004

CONNECTICUT RESOURCES RECOVERY AUTHORITY

SOUTHEAST PROJECT PERMITTING, DISPOSAL AND BILLING PROCEDURES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	GEN	ERAL	1
	1.1	Definitions	1
	1.2	Preamble	5
	1.3	General Principles of Interpretation	5
2.	PER	MITTING	5
	2.1	Permit Application	
	2.2	Submission of Permit Application	
	2.3	Guaranty of Payment	
	2.4	Issuance and Renewal of Permit	
	2.5	Tare Weights	8
	2.6	Miscellaneous	9
	2.7	Municipal Permits	9
3.	INSL	JRANCE	9
٥.	3.1	Insurance	
	3.2	Indemnification	
4.	OPF	RATING AND DISPOSAL PROCEDURES	. 12
	4.1	Delivery of Acceptable Solid Waste	
	4.2	Access to the Facility	
	4.3	Temporary Emergency Access to the Facility	
	4.4	Hours for Delivery	
	4.5	Disposal Procedures	
	4.6	Weight Tickets	15
	4.7	Delivery of Mixed Loads of Acceptable Solid Waste From Multiple Participating	3
	Muni	cipalities	15
5.	BILL	ING	16
	5.1	Payment of Invoices	16
	5.2	Liability for Payment of Invoices	16
	5.3	Past Due Invoices	16
	5.4	Miscellaneous	16
	5.5	Return Check Policy	17
	5.6	Disputes on Billing	17
6.	SAN	CTIONS	17

	6.1	Sanctions	17
	6.2	Appeal Process	18
7.	LEGAL		
	7.1	Consistent with Municipal Solid Waste Management Services Contract	19
	7.2	Governing Law	19
aaA	endix	A - Sanction Table	2

1. GENERAL

1.1 Definitions

As used in these procedures, the following terms shall have the meanings as set forth below:

(a) "Acceptable Solid Waste" shall include

- (1) Municipal Solid Waste originating in the community consisting of household waste from private residences; commercial waste which originates in wholesale, retail or service establishments such as restaurants, stores, markets, theaters, hotels and warehouses; and institutional waste material originating in schools, hospitals, research institutions, public buildings, and industrial wastes, and
- (2) Approved Special Waste that has been reviewed and approved by the Authority and/or the Operator for disposal at the facility but shall not include Recyclables.
- (b) "Account" shall mean a statement of transactions during a fiscal period arising from a formal business arrangement between the Authority and a person, firm or Participating Municipality providing for the use of the Facility and the services in connection therewith.
- (c) "Authority" or "the Authority" shall mean the Connecticut Resources Recovery Authority, a body politic and corporate, constituting a public instrumentality and political subdivision of the State of Connecticut.
- (d) "Bulky Waste" shall mean construction, demolition and/or land clearing debris.
- (e) "**By-Pass Waste**" shall mean Acceptable Solid Waste that is ordinarily processed at the Facility but is instead diverted by the Authority for disposal at any other site designated by the Authority.
- (f) "**Designee**" shall mean
 - (1) In the case of a Participating Municipality, a company/entity contracted for and/or licensed by said Participating Municipality to haul waste generated within the boundaries of said Participating Municipality; or
 - (2) In the case of the Authority, any company/entity contracted or authorized by the Authority to haul waste.
- (g) "Facility" shall mean the Authority's Southeast resources recovery facility located at 132 Military Highway in Preston, Connecticut.

- (h) "Hazardous Waste" shall include any material or substance which is, by reason of its composition or its characteristics or its delivery to the Facility (a) defined as hazardous waste in the Solid Waste Disposal Act, 42 U.S.C. §6901 et seq., and any regulations, rules or policies promulgated hereunder, (b) defined as hazardous waste in Section 22a-115 of the Connecticut General Statutes, (c) defined as special nuclear material or by-product material in Section 11 of the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, 42 U.S.C. §2014, and any regulations, rules or policies promulgated hereunder, or (d) regulated under Section 6(e) of the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. §2605; (e) and any regulations, rules or policies promulgated thereunder, as any of the statutes referred to in clauses (a) through (d) above may be amended; provided, however, that Hazardous Waste shall not include such insignificant quantities of any of the wastes covered by clauses (a), (b) and (d) as are customarily found in normal household, commercial and industrial waste to the extent such insignificant quantities are permitted by law to be treated and disposed of at the Facility or at sanitary landfills, as applicable. Hazardous Waste shall also include such other waste as deemed by the Authority in its sole discretion to be "Hazardous Waste."
- (i) "Landfill" shall mean any real property used by any Participating Municipality and the Authority for the disposal of Recycling Residue, By-Pass Waste, Non-Processible Waste, Special Waste and residue from the processing and/or incineration of Acceptable Solid Waste at the Facility.
- (j) "Member Municipality" shall mean a Municipality that has contracted with the Authority for waste management services.
- (k) "Mixed Load" shall mean Solid Waste from more than one Participating Municipality stored and carried in a single vehicle, roll-off box or trailer and delivered to any of the Facility.
- (l) "Municipal Solid Waste Management Services Contract" or "MSA" shall mean the contract between the Authority and a Participating Municipality for the processing and disposal at the Facility of all Acceptable Solid Waste generated by the Participating Municipality within its boundaries.
- (m) "Non-Processible Waste" shall include Acceptable Solid Waste that cannot be processed at the Facility and is normally disposed of at a Landfill, provided that the individual items of such Acceptable Solid Waste are 2,000 pounds or less in weight and physically of such size as to fit without compaction into an area having dimensions of three (3) feet by six (6) feet by seven (7) feet, including but not limited to the following:
 - (1) Household furniture, chairs, tables, sofas, mattresses, appliances and rugs;

- (2) Individual items such as blocks of metal that would in the Authority's sole discretion and determination cause damage to the Waste Facilities if processed and/or incinerated therein;
- (3) Bathroom fixtures, such as toilets bathtubs and sinks;
- (4) Purged and emptied propane, butane and acetylene tanks with valves removed exclusively from the residential Solid Waste stream and in limited quantities, if any, to be determined by the Authority on a day-to-day basis; and
- (5) Any other Acceptable Solid Waste deemed by the Authority in its sole discretion to be Non-Processible Waste.
- (n) "Operator" or "Operators" shall mean the organization or personnel in such organization under contract with the Authority for the operation the Facility.
- (o) "Participating Municipality" shall mean any town, city, borough or other political subdivision of and within the State of Connecticut, having legal jurisdiction over solid waste management within its corporate limits, and which has executed a Municipal Solid Waste Management Services Contract or made special arrangements with the Authority for the processing and disposal of Acceptable Solid Waste at the Facility.
- (p) "**Permittee**" shall mean those persons, organizations, corporations, firms, governmental agencies, or other entities who have submitted a permit application to the Authority and have been authorized to use the Facilities by the Authority.
- (q) "**Permit Number**" shall mean the vehicle identification number assigned by the Authority to a Permittee's waste transportation vehicle for use at the Facilities.
- (r) "**Private/Non-Commercial Hauler**" shall mean a person or firm who does not derive income from the collection, transportation or disposal of waste.
- (s) "**Project**" shall mean the Facility constituting the Authority's Southeast Project.
- (t) "Recyclables" shall mean shall mean materials required to be recycled under the Connecticut General Statutes.
- (u) "Solid Waste" shall mean unwanted and discarded solid materials, consistent with the meaning of that term pursuant to Section 22a-260(7) of the Connecticut General Statutes, excluding semi-solid, liquid materials collected and treated in a municipal sewerage system.
- (v) "**Special Waste**" shall mean materials that are suitable for delivery, at the Authority's sole and absolute discretion, but which may require special handling

and/or special approval by the Operator, CTDEP or another non-the Authority entity.

(w) "Unacceptable Waste" shall include

- (1) All hazardous and radioactive waste;
- (2) Any load with a significant amount of state-mandated recyclable material;
- (3) Metal items such as hot water heaters, furnaces, gas barbecues, swing sets, vehicle frame parts, crank cases transmissions, engines, lawn equipment, snow blowers, bicycles, tricycles, metal piping, scrap metal, bed springs, 55-gallon drums, fuel tanks and metal furniture;
- (4) White goods and appliances such as refrigerators, stoves, freezers, dishwashers, washers, dryers, microwaves, air conditioners, water softeners and televisions:
- (5) Regulated infectious and medical wastes such as surgical and obstetrical wastes, pathological wastes, biological wastes, blood soiled materials, renal dialysis wastes, animal carcasses, unautoclaved or unsterilized serums and vaccines, laboratory wastes exposed to pathogens, sharp instruments, and hypodermic needles;
- (6) Unapproved special waste such as nickel-cadmium and mercuric-oxide batteries;
- (7) Land-clearing debris such as tree stumps, branches, shrubs, and grass clippings;
- (8) Construction and demolition debris such as brick, mortar, concrete, asphalt shingles, sheetrock and treated wood or lumber;
- (9) Any Solid Waste that is deemed by the Authority and/or Operator in its sole discretion to be not in conformance with the requirements for Acceptable Solid Waste as set forth in these and/or Operator's procedures; and
- (10) Any other waste deemed by the Authority and/or Operator in its sole discretion for any reason to be Recyclables and/or Unacceptable Waste, including but not limited to waste generated by a source which is not authorized by the Authority and/or Operator to deliver waste to the Facility.
- (x) "Waste Facilities" shall mean the Facility and all Transfer Stations and Landfills of the Project.

(y) "Waste Hauler" shall mean a person or firm, including a "collector" as defined in Section 22a-220a(g) of the Connecticut General Statutes, whose main source of income is derived from the collection, transportation, and/or disposal of waste.

1.2 Preamble

The Authority may amend these procedures from time to time. Anyone obtaining a new permit or renewal of an existing permit should contact the Authority at (860) 757-7700 in order to obtain a copy of the procedures in effect. Additional copies of these procedures may be obtained at the cost of reproduction and postage. The procedures are also available on the Authority's website at www.CRRA.org.

1.3 General Principles of Interpretation

- (a) The captions contained in these procedures have been inserted for convenience only and shall not affect or be effective to interpret, change or restrict the express terms or provisions of these procedures.
- (b) The use of the masculine gender refers to the feminine and neuter genders and the use of the singular includes the plural, and vice versa, whenever the context of these procedures so requires.
- (c) The Authority reserves the right to amend these procedures and the definitions herein from time to time as it deems necessary in its sole discretion.
- (d) These procedures are intended to comply and be consistent with each Municipal Solid Waste Management Services Contract for the Project. In the event of any conflict between these procedures and any Municipal Solid Waste Management Services Contract for the Project, the latter shall control.
- (e) These procedures incorporate by reference the Operator's procedures and if there is any conflict, the Operator's procedures shall apply.

2. PERMITTING

2.1 Permit Application

(a) These procedures constitute the Authority's minimal requirements for use of the Facility. The Operators and each Participating Municipality having jurisdiction over the Facility may have or impose additional requirements for such use, all of which requirements must be met and complied with by each applicant and Permittee hereunder. In the event that any provisions of these procedures conflicts with any such additional requirements, the more stringent requirement will control and prevail, and to the extent such more stringent requirement is not set forth in these procedures, it shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference and made a part of these procedures as if it had been fully set forth herein.

- (b) Any Waste Hauler, Private Non-Commercial Hauler, Participating Municipality, or any other person or entity that desires to use the Facility shall obtain a permit in accordance with these procedures before delivering to and/or removing waste from the Facility.
- (c) Each applicant for a permit shall complete a permit application and provide to the Authority all of the necessary information requested thereon, including but not limited to:
 - (1) The identification of each vehicle owned, leased or operated by the applicant or its agents and employees and to be used by the applicant;
 - (2) Origin of all waste that applicant will collect; and
 - (3) All certificates of insurance that the applicant is required to provide pursuant to Section 3 hereof.

In connection with the foregoing, each applicant shall also execute and submit to the Authority all documents attached to the permit application, including but not limited to:

- (1) A Solid Waste Delivery Agreement (if applicable);
- (2) An Attestation Agreement;
- (3) An Indemnification Agreement;
- (4) A Credit Agreement; and
- (5) A security deposit in the form and amount acceptable to the Authority or any other document required by the Authority at the Authority's sole and absolute discretion.

2.2 Submission of Permit Application

- (a) Upon applicant's completion of the permit application and execution of all documents attached thereto, the applicant shall submit such permit application and documents and pay the applicable permit fees to the Authority.
- Pursuant to the submission of a Permit Application to the Authority, each applicant and Permittee hereby agrees to cooperate with the Authority or the Authority's Designee in any matter affecting the orderly operation of the Facility and to fully abide by and comply with these procedures. In addition to the foregoing, each applicant and Permittee acknowledges and agrees that its failure to cooperate with the Authority or the Authority's Designee or to abide by or comply with these procedures shall result in fines and/or suspension or revocation of disposal privileges at the Facility.

2.3 Guaranty of Payment

- (a) Permittee shall submit along with its permit application a guaranty of payment satisfactory to the Authority in all respects and in the form of either a letter of credit, a suretyship bond, cash, or a cashier's check and in an amount sufficient to cover two at least (2) months' of waste disposal charges as estimated by the Authority.
- (b) At its sole and absolute discretion, the Authority may review a Permittee's guaranty amount under Section 2.3(a) above and require the Permittee to increase its guaranty amount in the event the average monthly delivery rate of Permittee varies by 10% or more. The Authority shall review a Permittee's guaranty amount as detailed in the foregoing sentence at least semi-annually.
- (c) If Permittee submits to the Authority either a letter of credit or suretyship bond, Permittee shall within sixty (60) days before the expiration of the same renew such letter of credit or suretyship bond and furnish the renewed letter of credit or suretyship bond to the Authority. If the Permittee's letter of credit or suretyship bond is canceled, terminated, or deemed inadequate by the Authority, Permittee shall immediately submit to the Authority a new letter of credit or suretyship bond that complies with the requirements of this Section 2.3.
- (d) If Permittee fails to comply with any of the requirements of this Section 2.3, the Authority may deny the Permittee any further access to the Facility and/or revoke and/or suspend the Permittee's permit for the same.

2.4 Issuance and Renewal of Permit

- (a) Provided that the applicant has submitted its permit application and all other documents required to be submitted hereunder to the Authority, applicant has paid to the Authority the applicable permit fees, and such Permit Application and documents are complete and satisfactory in all respects to the Authority, then the Authority may issue a permit to the applicant.
- (b) Upon the issuance of a permit:
 - (1) The Permittee shall be assigned an Account number;
 - (2) All of the vehicles listed on the Permittee's permit application shall be assigned a decal with a Permit Number, which decal shall be prominently and permanently affixed by the Permittee in a location clearly visible to the scalehouse operator and as designated by the Authority;
 - (3) Each Permittee's Roll-off Boxes and Trailers shall be assigned a decal- and the decal shall be prominently and permanently affixed by the Permittee in a location clearly visible to the scalehouse operator, as designated by the Authority; and

- (4) Trucks arriving at the scale house without the assigned Authority Permit Number displayed shall be denied access to the Facility.
- (c) Permits issued during the fiscal year of July 1 through June 30 are effective and valid until the end of such year unless otherwise revoked by the Authority. Permits cannot be assigned or transferred. In order to effectively renew an existing permit, the Permittee shall complete and submit to the Authority a renewal permit application together with the pertinent renewal fee for the same within twenty (20) days before the end of each fiscal year. The renewal fees to be paid by each Permittee hereunder shall be determined by the Authority on an annual basis. Any Permittee who fails to perform its renewal obligations under this Section 2.4(c) shall be denied access to the Facility by the Authority until such Permittee performs such renewal obligations.
- (d) At its sole and absolute discretion, the Authority may issue a Permittee a temporary Permit for a vehicle not currently authorized under Section 2. A Temporary Permit may be issued for a substitute vehicle due to an emergency breakdowns and/or the use of a demonstration vehicle. Temporary Permits are valid for up to six (6) days and may be issued once every 60 days, per company. During any time period when a Permittee's vehicle is denied disposal privileges, no Temporary Permits will be granted to the Permittee.

2.5 Tare Weights

- (a) Tare weights of all vehicles, trailers and roll-off boxes shall be established after delivery of the first load under a new permit at the Facility. Such tare weights shall be obtained at the direction and under the procedures set forth by the Facility's scale house.
- (b) After the initial tare weights have been obtained, the Authority and/or the Operator may require the verification of tare weights on a random basis to verify the weight records. Haulers shall cooperate with the Authority and/or the Operator to provide such data as required.
- (c) Haulers may request spot tare weight checks for their trucks only if the spot checks do not negatively impact the operations of the Facility as determined by the Authority at its sole and absolute discretion.
- (d) At the direction of the Authority or the Authority's Designee, haulers failing to comply with the foregoing tare weight procedures shall be billed as follows:
 - (1) The vehicles last known tare weight; or
 - (2) A maximum 22 net tons.
- (e) If hauler fails to comply with the terms of this Section 2.5 and hauler(s) is billed in accordance with subsection (d) above, then hauler's disposal privileges shall be denied until hauler complies with the terms of this Section 2.5.

2.6 Miscellaneous

- (a) If the Permittee acquires any vehicle that is not authorized under the Permittee's permit, then the Permittee shall submit an amended permit application to the Authority pursuant and subject to the above procedures set forth in this Section 2.
- (b) Permittee is responsible for all charges, costs, expenses, disposal fees, and fines incurred under its permit.
- (c) If Permit tee's permit is lost or stolen, Permittee is responsible for all costs, charges, expenses, disposal fees and fines incurred until said Permittee notifies the Authority in writing of the lost or stolen permit.
- (d) Permittee shall give the Authority advance written notice of any changes in such Permittee's business operation that would have a material effective on Permittee's delivery schedules or weight records and shall include the effective dates of such changes. Such changes of Permittee's business operation shall include, but not be limited to, the following:
 - (1) Changes in name or mailing address;
 - (2) Changes in phone number; or
 - (3) Change in physical location of Permittee's business.
 - (4) Changes in the Permittee's business structure, including but not limited to the acquisition of other hauling companies that would impact Permittee's volume of waste deliveries to the Waste Facilities.

2.7 Municipal Permits

If the Participating Municipality requires haulers to register or obtain a permit to haul, all Permittees shall be required to register with such Participating Municipality from which it will collect from and deliver waste. Each Participating Municipality may establish its own permit, registration, and/or inspection requirements, which must be followed by the Permittees in addition to these procedures.

3. INSURANCE

3.1 Insurance

- (a) Each Permittee shall procure and maintain, at its own cost and expense, throughout the term of any permit issued to such Permittee, the following insurance, including any required endorsements thereto and amendments thereof:
 - (1) Commercial general liability insurance alone or in combination with, commercial umbrella insurance with a limit of not less than one million

(\$1,000,000.00) dollars each occurrence covering liability arising from premises, operations, independent contractors, products-completed operations, personal injury and advertising injury, and liability assumed under an insurance contract (including the tort liability of another assumed in a business contract). If such CGL insurance contains a general aggregate limit, it shall apply separately to the Project.

- (2) Business automobile liability insurance alone or in combination with commercial umbrella insurance covering any auto (including owned, hired, and non-owned autos), with a limit of not less than one million (\$1,000,000.00) dollars each accident.
- (3) Workers' compensation insurance with statutory limits and employers' liability limits of not less than five hundred thousand (\$500,000.00) dollars each accident for bodily injury by accident and five hundred thousand (\$500,000.00) dollars for each employee for bodily injury by disease.
- (b) Each applicant or Permittee shall submit along with its permit or permit renewal application to the Authority an executed original certificate or certificates for each above required insurance certifying that such insurance is in full force and effect and setting forth the requisite information referenced in Section 3.1(c) below. Additionally, each Permittee shall furnish to the Authority within thirty (30) days before the expiration date of the coverage of each above required insurance a certificate or certificates containing the information required in Section 3.1(c) below and certifying that such insurance has been renewed and remains in full force and effect.
- (c) All policies for each insurance required above shall:
 - (1) Name the Authority as an additional insured (this requirement shall not apply to workers' compensation insurance);
 - (2) Include a standard severability of interest clause;
 - (3) Provide for not less than thirty (30) days' prior written notice to the Authority by registered or certified mail of any cancellation, restrictive amendment, non-renewal or change in coverage;
 - (4) Hold the Authority free and harmless from all subrogation rights of the insurer; and
 - (5) Provide that such required insurance hereunder is the primary insurance and that any other similar insurance that the Authority may have shall be deemed in excess of such primary insurance.
- (d) All policies for each insurance required above shall be issued by insurance companies that are either licensed by the State of Connecticut and have a Best's Key Rating Guide

of B+ VIII or better, or otherwise deemed acceptable by the Authority in its sole discretion.

- (e) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Section 3.1, any applicant or Permittee may submit to the Authority documentation evidencing the existence of umbrella liability insurance coverage in order to satisfy the limits of coverage required hereunder for commercial general liability, business automobile liability insurance and employers' liability insurance.
- (f) If any Permittee fails to comply with any of the foregoing insurance procedures, then the Authority may in its sole discretion deny such Permittee any further access to the Facility and/or suspend or revoke its permit for same.
- (g) No provision of this Section 3.1 shall be construed or deemed to limit any Permittee's obligations under these procedures to pay damages or other costs and expenses.
- (h) The Authority shall not, because of accepting, rejecting, approving, or receiving any certificates of insurance required hereunder, incur any liability for:
 - (1) The existence, non-existence, form or legal sufficiency of the insurance described on such certificates,
 - (2) The solvency of any insurer, or
 - (3) The payment of losses.
- (i) For purposes of this Section 3, the terms applicant or Permittee shall include any subcontractor thereof.

3.2 Indemnification

Permittee shall at all times defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Authority, any Operator and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents on account of and from and against any and all liabilities, actions, claims, damages, losses, judgments, workers' compensation payments, costs and expenses (including but not limited to attorneys' fees and court costs) arising out of injuries to the person (including death), damage to property or other damages alleged to have been sustained by: (a) the Authority, any Operator, or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents or subcontractors or (b) Permittee or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents or subcontractors, or (c) any other person, to the extent any such injuries, damage or damages are caused or alleged to have been caused in whole or in part by the acts, omissions or negligence of Permittee or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents or subcontractors. Permittee further undertakes to reimburse the Authority for damage to property of the Authority caused by Permittee or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents or subcontractors. The existence of insurance shall in no way limit the scope of this indemnification. Permittee's obligations under this Section 3.2 shall survive the termination or expiration of Permittee's permits.

4. OPERATING AND DISPOSAL PROCEDURES

4.1 Delivery of Acceptable Solid Waste

Each Permittee shall deliver Acceptable Solid Waste to the Facility designated by the Authority staff, or as otherwise allowed pursuant to a Southeast Solid Waste Delivery Agreement executed by the Authority and the Permittee.

4.2 Access to the Facility

Vehicles shall follow the routes that SCRRRA has established as acceptable routes as follows:

- (a) Vehicles making deliveries to the Facility from the west side of the Thames River and from municipalities north of Preston should proceed on Route 395 (north and south) to Exit 79A to Route 2A east then south on Route 12 to the Facility entrance. Deliveries from Norwich, Waterford and New London may also use Route 32 (north and south) to Route 2A east.
- (b) Vehicles making deliveries to the Facility from the east side of the Thames River should use Route 95 or Route 184 to Route 12 north. Route 201 (north and south) to Route 2 west to Route 214 west to Route 12 and Route 117 (north and south) to Route 214 west to Route 12 may be used. Route 12 south from Norwich may also be used.
- (c) The portion of Route 2A through Poquetanuck Village in Preston (between Route 2 and Route 12) may not be used.
- (d) More restrictive criteria may be promulgated as required by local conditions and shall be strictly adhered to by all Permittees.

4.3 Temporary Emergency Access to the Facility

The Authority staff, in their sole discretion and subject to any conditions or restrictions that they deem appropriate, may on a case-by-case basis allow a Permittee temporary emergency access to the Facility for the purpose of delivering Acceptable Solid Waste to the same with a vehicle, roll-off box or trailer that is not authorized pursuant to these procedures to do so; provided, that such Permittee notifies the Authority staff at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of Permittee's need for such temporary emergency access.

4.4 Hours for Delivery

(a) The operating hours, including the list of holidays, can be obtained by contacting the Authority's Billing Department at (860)-757-7700 or visiting the Authority's website at www.CRRA.org.

(b) The Authority may, with at least thirty (30) days prior written notice, change the hours of operation for any of the Facilities. Holiday and emergency closings and any schedule of make-up hours will be posted as needed at each of the Facilities.

4.5 Disposal Procedures

- (a) Subject to any terms and conditions that the Authority may require, the Authority staff may direct that Non-Processible Waste and/or Special Waste be delivered directly to either a Landfill or any other site.
- (b) Only vehicles with mechanical or automatic unloading/dumping capability will be allowed access to the Facility, unless otherwise approved (on a case-by-case basis) by the Authority staff and/or Operator. Only vehicles with back-up lights and audible warning signals that are properly functioning and in compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws or regulations shall be allowed access to the Facility.
- (c) The doors of all vehicles shall be clearly marked with the business name and address of the Permittee. Any vehicle that is not properly marked shall be denied access to the Facility.
- (d) The Operator will direct all vehicle traffic.
- (e) No vehicles shall approach any scale until directed by the Operator. Each vehicle shall have its driver side window completely rolled down from the time such vehicle drives onto the inbound scale until it has discharged its load and passed over or by the outbound scale.
- (f) Obey all posted speed limits, traffic directions and truck instruction signs.
- (g) When positioned on any scale, the vehicle driver shall inform the scale Operator of the Participating Municipality from which the load originated.
- (h) The inbound scale Operator will present a signed weight ticket to the driver. The driver is responsible for seeing to it that the information on the ticket is correct before signing.
- (i) When directed by the Operators, a driver shall proceed with caution to the tipping floor, bay or Landfill face and deposit loads. Drivers shall proceed promptly yet safely to deposit loads in order to minimize vehicle-waiting time.
- (j) Unacceptable Waste shall not be delivered by any Permittee or vehicle to the Facility. In the event that Unacceptable Waste is delivered to the Facility, the Authority and its agents, employees or Operators may choose to reload the Unacceptable Waste back on to the offending vehicle. In connection therewith, the Authority may at its sole discretion, issue a verbal and written warning to the Permittee of the offending vehicle.
- (k) All trucks must remain tarped until they are in the disposal area and out of the operation's way.

- (l) No drainage of roll-off boxes is allowed on the premises of the Facility.
- (m) Roll-off boxes shall not be turned around on site.
- (n) All vehicles and roll-off boxes/trailers shall be covered, not leaking, and maintained in a safe and sanitary condition.
- (o) Drivers must latch and unlatch packers in the disposal area.
- (p) Drivers who wish to hand clean their truck blades must do so in areas designated by the Operators.
- (q) A vehicle or roll-off box/trailer tare weight shall be established by stopping at the out-bound scale prior to departure from the Facility if required by the scale Operator. Vehicles shall be tared as required by the Operator. Any Permittee whose driver does not tare his vehicle or roll-off box/trailer or sign the weight ticket pursuant to the Operator's instructions shall be charged the disposal fee for the gross weight of the load delivered.
- (r) Upon the direction of the Operators, vehicle drivers shall discharge loads in a specially designated area to facilitate load verification.
- (s) Hand sorting, picking over or scavenging dumped waste is not permitted at any time.
- (t) All vehicles and personnel shall proceed at their own risk on the premises of the Facility.
- (u) No loitering is permitted at the Facility.
- (v) Smoking of tobacco products is prohibited at Facility except in designated smoking area(s). The possession and/or drinking of alcohol as well as the possession and/or use of drugs at any time while on the premises of the Facility is strictly prohibited.
- (w) At all times while on Facility's premises, the drivers shall comply with the Operator's instructions.
- (x) Other procedures for the Facility may be promulgated over time by the Authority and when issued must be strictly obeyed.
- (y) Anyone violating any provision of Sections 22a-220, 22a-220a(f) or 22a-250 of the Connecticut General Statutes or any other federal, state or local law or regulation shall be reported by the Authority to the appropriate authorities.
- (z) The Authority has the right to inspect all solid waste deliveries.
- (aa) All haulers shall comply with specific municipal rules and regulations including, but not limited to, permits, applicable service fees, and other local limitations.

4.6 Weight Tickets

- (a) The driver of each truck disposing of waste shall be presented a weight ticket from the scale house attendant. The ticket shall indicate date, hauler's company name, vehicle and container identification numbers, gross weight, tare weight, net weight, origin of waste and time. Each driver will be responsible for identifying the community for which he is hauling.
- (b) If a driver fails to sign for or receive a weight ticket, the appropriate hauling company shall be billed for such delivery as if a weight ticket had been signed and received.
- (c) Drivers are responsible for checking weight tickets for accuracy. All discrepancies should be brought to the attention of the Authority and/or the scale operator as soon as possible. CRRA assumes no responsibility for unreported errors.
- (d) At the discretion and request of the Authority, the Permittee/hauler shall disclose to the Authority the quantity of Acceptable Solid Waste from each Participating Municipality in the Acceptable Mixed Load(s) for which Permittee/hauler is hauling.
- (e) The Permittee/hauler shall use its best efforts to identify and provide the Authority written evidence of the origin of the Acceptable Solid Waste in its Acceptable Mixed Loads to enable the Authority to properly determine each Participating Municipality's volume of delivered Acceptable Solid Waste.

4.7 Delivery of Mixed Loads of Acceptable Solid Waste From Multiple Participating Municipalities

- (a) Delivery of Mixed Loads of Acceptable Solid Waste from Multiple Participating Municipalities ("Acceptable Mixed Loads") will be accepted by the Authority only if the following criteria are met:
 - (i) The Acceptable Mixed Loads do not contain any Acceptable Solid Waste that originated from a non Participating Municipality.
 - (ii) The entire Acceptable Mixed Load must contain Acceptable Solid Waste that would otherwise have been billed to the Permittee.
 - (iii) At the discretion and request of the Authority, the Permittee/hauler shall disclose to the Authority the quantity of Acceptable Solid Waste from each Participating Municipality in the Acceptable Mixed Load(s) for which Permittee/hauler is hauling.
 - (iv) The Permittee/hauler shall use its best efforts to identify and provide the Authority written evidence of the origin of the Acceptable Solid Waste in its Acceptable Mixed Loads to enable the Authority to properly determine each Participating

Municipality's volume of delivered Acceptable Solid Waste.

- (v) Permittee/hauler shall not deliver any Acceptable Mixed Load to any Waste Facility unless all of the Acceptable Solid Waste in the Acceptable Mixed Load is authorized to be disposed of at such Waste Facility.
- (vi) Any delivery of an Acceptable Mixed Load must be billed in its entirety to the Permittee/hauler that delivers the Acceptable Mixed Load to the Waste Facility.

5. BILLING

5.1 Payment of Invoices

Invoices shall be issued by the Authority and payable as follows: The Authority shall issue an invoice to each Permittee, at a minimum, on a monthly basis, and each Permittee shall pay such invoice within twenty (20) days from the date of such invoice or within the time specified in Permittee's specific contract with the Authority.

5.2 Liability for Payment of Invoices

Any Permittee who delivers waste to the Facility by means of any vehicle, roll-off box or trailer that is owned, leased or operated by such Permittee or by any other Permittee, person or entity shall be responsible for the payment of any invoice issued by the Authority in connection with such delivery of waste, and the subsequent disposal or processing thereof by the Authority.

5.3 Past Due Invoices

- (a) If a Permittee fails to pay in full any invoice issued by the Authority pursuant to Section 5.1 on or before the close of business of the twentieth (20th) day following the date of such invoice, then such invoice shall be deemed past due and a delayed payment charge of one percent (1%) of the amount past due shall be imposed commencing on the thirtieth (30th) day following the invoice date and continuing on a monthly basis following such thirty (30) day period until such invoice is paid in full. If a Permittee's specific contract language with the Authority differs from the foregoing, then the specific contract language of Permittee shall prevail.
- (b) In accordance with Connecticut General Statutes Section 22a-220c(c), if a hauler is delinquent in paying any invoice to the Authority for three consecutive months, then the Authority must notify any municipality served by hauler of hauler's delinquency.

5.4 Miscellaneous

If any Permittee fails to pay any invoice under this Section 5 by the due date for such invoice, then the Authority may in its sole discretion deny such Permittee any further access to the

Facility and/or suspend or revoke its permit for the same until such Permittee pays in full to the Authority all past due invoices including any interest thereon. Additionally, the Authority may in its sole discretion pursue any remedies available to it at law or in equity, including but not limited to procuring the amounts owed from such Permittee's guaranty of payment, in order to collect such amounts. In connection therewith, the Permittee shall also be liable for all costs, expenses or attorneys' fees incurred by the Authority in collecting the amounts of past due invoices owed by such Permittee to the Authority, whether or not suit is initiated.

5.5 Return Check Policy

- (a) For each check returned to the Authority, the Permittee will be charged a processing fee of \$50.00. In addition, Permittee must immediately submit a replacement check in the full amount by either a bank or certified check and/or may be denied access to the facilities until such payment is received and processed by the Authority.
- (b) Permittees who have two returned checks within a four (4) month billing period will be required to submit all future payments by either bank or certified check for minimum period of six (6) months.

5.6 Disputes on Billing

In the event of a dispute on any portion of any invoice, the Permittee shall be required to pay the full amount of the disputed charge(s) when due, and the Permittee shall, within thirty (30) days from the date of the disputed invoice, give written notice of its dispute to the Authority. Such notice shall identify the disputed bill/invoice, state the amount in dispute and set forth a detailed statement of the grounds on which such dispute is based. No adjustment shall be considered or made by the Authority for the disputed charge(s) until notice is give as aforesaid.

6. SANCTIONS

6.1 Sanctions

- (a) Permittee must adhere to the terms of these Procedures. In addition to the other remedies available to the Authority hereunder, the Authority may at its sole discretion impose the sanctions, as liquidated damages, against any Permittee who violates any provision of these Procedures. See <u>Appendix A</u> attached hereto for examples of violations and their applicable sanctions but this is not a complete listing of all violations and applicable sanctions.
- (b) In the event that an individual/Permittee disrupts the operation of, or creates a disturbance or acts in an unsafe or unruly manner at any of the Facilities, then the Authority may in its sole discretion prohibit such individual from entering the premises of all or any part of the Project for a period to be determined by the Enforcement/Recycling Director.

- (c) The Authority may in its sole discretion reduce the sanctions authorized in <u>Appendix A</u> if the Authority determines that the circumstances involving the offense warrant such reduction.
- (d) In addition to any other violations of these procedures, sanctions shall be imposed by the Authority for the following:
 - (1) Any breach by Permittee of any of its obligations under these procedures or any agreement between Permittee and the Authority for the delivery of Acceptable Solid Waste by Permittee to the Project;
 - (2) Delivery of waste from a municipality and representing that such waste is from another municipality; and
 - (3) Delivery of an Acceptable Mixed Load(s) of Acceptable Solid Waste that does not conform to the requirements of Section 4.7 herein.
- (e) If a Permittee does not commit a violation during the six (6) month period following the Permittee's most recent violation, then the Permittee's record may be considered clear and any subsequent violation after the six (6) month period may be considered the Permittee's first violation.

6.2 Appeal Process

A Permittee/Hauler will have the right to appeal a monetary violation imposed against it by CRRA to the Appeal Committee.

The following process must be followed to preserve your appeal rights:

- (a) Within 10 days of the date of the monetary violation, Permittee/Hauler must contact the CRRA Field Manager of Enforcement/Recycling in writing via certified mail to 211 Murphy Road, Hartford, CT 06114 or facsimile at 860-278-8471 to request the incident report and supporting documentation ("Incident Report") on the violation of issue.
- (b) The Field Manager of Enforcement/Recycling will send Permittee/Hauler the Incident Report via certified mail/return receipt; with a cover letter noting the date your request was received.
- (c) Within 5 days of the receipt of the Incident Report, if Permittee/Hauler has contradicting evidence or other information ("Permittee/Hauler Information") that would contest the Incident Report, Hauler/Permittee must send a letter to the Director of Enforcement/Recycling at 100 Constitution Plaza, Hartford CT 06103, via certified mail/return receipt, explaining the reason for the appeal with a copy of the Permittee/Hauler Information.

- (d) No appeal will be granted if Permittee/Hauler has not submitted evidence that contradicts the Incident Report.
- (e) No appeal will be granted if Permittee/Hauler has not responded in the timeframe outlined above.
- (f) The Appeal Committee shall consist of three (3) members: CRRA Director of Operations or designee, CRRA Controller or designee, and an impartial uninvolved ad hoc hauler member selected from a list of haulers registered to use the CRRA facilities. The hauler selected will be from the facility for which the monetary violation was issued.
- (g) The Appeal Committee will review the Incident Report and Permittee/Hauler Information. The Appeal Committee will notify Permittee/Hauler within 30 business days to come to the CRRA Headquarters. CRRA will conduct an open meeting to discuss the appeal. Within a reasonable time thereafter, the Appeal Committee will issue a decision, by majority vote, whether to grant the appeal. If there is a tie due to abstention, the appeal will be granted. This decision is final.
- (h) If an appeal is granted, the Appeal Committee, in its decision will determine by majority vote, the adjustment, if any, to the violation. If there is a tie due to abstention, no adjustment will be made. The Appeal Committee may decrease or dismiss the sanction, but at no time will a sanction be increased.

7. LEGAL

7.1 Consistent with Municipal Solid Waste Management Services Contract

It is intended that these procedures be consistent with the Municipal Solid Waste Management Services Contract and with the applicable provisions of law. If any inconsistency should nevertheless appear, the applicable provisions of the Municipal Solid Waste Management Services Contract or the laws of the State of Connecticut shall control.

7.2 Governing Law

These Procedures shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Connecticut as such laws are applied to contracts between Connecticut residents entered into and to be performed entirely in Connecticut.

APPENDIX A

Number of Violations	Safety Violations	Maintenance Violations	Hazardous Waste Violation	Non-Processible Waste Violation	Unacceptable & Misrepresentation of Origin Violation	Truck Route Violation
Examples of Violations (Not limited to)	Speeding; No back-up alarm; Unsecured door	Motor Vehicle Operation; Failure to Follow Instructions; No Tarp	Any Delivery of Hazardous Waste or medical waste to Facilities	Household furniture, white metals, scrap metals, Bulky Waste	Any Delivery of Unacceptable Waste or Misrepresentation of Origin of Delivered Waste	Any Use of Permittee's Vehicle On Non- Authorized Truck Route
1 st	\$250.00	Written Warning to the Permittee	\$1,000.00	Written Warning to the Permittee	Written Warning to the Permittee	Written Warning to the Permittee
2 nd	\$500.00	\$100.00	\$1,500.00	\$100.00	\$500.00	\$250.00
3 rd	\$1,000.00	\$250.00	\$2,000.00	\$250.00	\$1,000.00	\$500.00
4 th	\$1,500.00	\$750.00	\$3,000.00	\$750.00	\$1,5000.00	\$1,000.00
5 th	\$2,000.00	\$1,250.00	\$4,000.00	\$1,000.00	\$2,000.00	\$1,500.00
6 th	\$2,500.00	\$2,500.00	\$5,000.00	\$1,500.00	\$2,500.00	\$3,000.00

Notes:

- 1. First, all Violations are done By Location.
- 2. Second, Violations are done By Type.
- 3. The above list does not include a complete list of violations. It is meant to illustrate the types of offenses that may constitute a violation.
- 4. Disposal privileges may be denied or suspended for serious or repeated violations.
- 5. Reloading charges may be applicable for certain waste violations and are payable to either CRRA or the waste-to-energy facility operator, in accordance with the respective waste-to-energy project agreements.